IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 77,219

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

APPELLANT,

vs.

THOMAS F. JONES, as Personal Representative of the Estate of KAREN SUE JONES, Deceased, THOMAS F. JONES, Individually, and MARY ANN JONES, Individually,

APPELLEES.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY

CORLETT, KILLIAN, OBER, HARDEMAN & LEVI, P.A. Attorneys for Appellant CONTINENTAL 116 West Flagler Street Miami, FL 33130 Tel: (305) 377-8931

BY: LOVE PHIPPS, Fla. Bar No. 508462 & SCOTT R. MCNARY, Fla. Bar No. 201197

#### INTRODUCTION

Defendant/Appellant Continental Insurance Co. will be referred to as Continental. Plaintiffs/Appellees will be referred to collectively as Jones.

Continental will cite to the record as it appeared in the 11th Circuit. That is, citations to the record will be by an "R", then the volume number, the document number, and (if necessary) the page number(s) within the document cited. (The index to the record is the first document in the "Record Excerpts" [see below]).

Continental will also cite to the "Record Excerpts" which were submitted to the Eleventh Circuit and which have been forwarded to this court (The Eleventh Circuit requires that certain important portions of the record be submitted bound together as "Record Excerpts" for easy reference. Fla. R. App. P. 30; 11th Cir. R. 30-1). Reference to the Record Excerpts will be made by the letters "RE" and to its corresponding letter in 11th Cir. R. 30-1 [(a) through (e)].

Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis is original.

- 1 -

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE COURT USED AN INCORRECT MEASURE OF DAMAGES; JONES CAN RECOVER ONLY THOSE DAMAGES PROXIMATELY CAUSED BY CONTINENTAL'S ACTIONS
  - A. Because the Statute Is Not Ambiguous We Should Not Consult Legislative History
  - B. Even When Consulted, the Legislative History Adds Nothing
  - C. The 1990 "Clarification" of the Statute Changes Nothing
  - D. As the Trial Court Applied the Statute, It Is a Penal Statute and, Thus, Unconstitional
  - E. Of the Federal Trial Courts' Rulings, <u>Adams</u> Is Better Reasoned Than <u>Jones</u>
  - F. <u>McLeod</u> Is Correct; <u>Hollar</u> Is Inapplicable Because <u>Hollar</u> Is a Third-Party Action
  - G. The Amount of the Excess Arbitration Award Is an Improper Yardstick for Measuring Damages Against a UM Insurer
- II. BECAUSE THE JURY FOUND NO DAMAGES, JONES HAS NO CAUSE OF ACTION, REGARDLESS OF ALL THE OTHER CASELAW
  - A. The Jury Could Deny Jones' Three Bases for Compensation
  - B. By His Proposed Jury Instructions, Jones Waived This Issue
  - C. The JNOV Should Not Have Been Granted
  - D. There Should Not Be a New Trial on Damages
- III. THE INSURER CANNOT BE GUILTY OF BAD FAITH SIMPLY BECAUSE IT ARBITRATES ITS INSURED'S CLAIM FOR UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE
  - A. In the UM Situation, There Is No Fiduciary Relationship Between the Insurer and the Insured
  - B. If the Statute Applies in the UM Situation, It Is Unconstitutionally Vague and Violates Due Process
  - C. If the Statute Applies in the UM Situation, It Violates the Insurer's Right to Equal Protection
  - D. Continental Has a Right To Arbitrate Without Being Convicted of Bad Faith

- 2 -

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Summary of the Case and Facts

Continental insured the Jones family for uninsured motorist coverage. When the daughter died due to an uninsured driver, Jones demanded the policy limits from Continental. Continental refused to pay the policy limits, and the claim was arbitrated. Jones filed a bad-faith claim against Continental. The jury found that Continental did not act in good faith but also found that Jones had suffered no damages. The trial court granted Jones' motion for JNOV, and reversed the zero damages award. Continental appealed to the Eleventh Circuit, and the Eleventh Circuit certified the question to the Supreme Court of Florida.

## B. The Case and Facts

Continental issued a policy of automobile liability insurance to Jones. The policy was in effect on January 29, 1984, when his daughter was fatally injured while a passenger in an automobile. The policy contained uninsured motorist or underinsured motorist coverage in the amount of \$300,000 per claim. The policy also covered two separate vehicles. In accordance with Florida law permitting stacking of the limits of coverage based on the number of insured vehicles, the policy provided a total of \$600,000 in uninsured motorist benefits to Jones.

Following the daughter's death, Jones demanded Continental settle his claims for the \$600,000 policy limits. Continental refused to tender its entire limits. Jones demanded arbitration as provided for in the policy. On the eve of arbitration, Continental offered \$500,000, which Jones rejected. The arbitration panel

- 3 -

rendered an arbitration award of \$1,000,000, based on an award of \$500,000 to each parent.

Continental's attorneys then followed the recognized procedure for limiting the amount of the award to the amount of coverage-it filed a petition authorized by § 682.14, Fla. Stat. (1983), to modify the award and enter judgment accordingly. Meade v. Lumbermens Mut. Ins. Co., 423 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1982); Lumbermens Mut. Ins. Co. v. American Arbitration Assoc., 398 So.2d 469, 471 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (insurer entitled to use modification procedure set forth in § 682.14, Fla. Stat., in order to avoid liability for that portion of the arbitration award which exceeded the policy limit); see also Callard v. National Union Fire, 556 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (insurer filed declaratory action, claiming UM coverage was only \$20,000; at arbitration, insured awarded \$90,834; award properly reduced to \$20,000). [RE (c)(1); R1-13]. Jones responded to the petition to modify the arbitration award, stating that the award was not defective and thus there was no ground for modifying the award. [RE (c)(2); R1-13]. The trial court entered judgment in the amount of \$600,000.

Mr. and Mrs. Jones then filed an action in state court seeking damages for Continental's alleged failure to act in good faith in settling their mutual claims for the wrongful death of their daughter, pursuant to Section 624.155(1)(b)(1.), Fla. Stat (1983) [RE (b)]. This statute provides a cause of action for an insured when the insurer does not attempt in good faith to settle claims when, under the circumstances, the insurer could have done so had it acted fairly and honestly toward the insured with due

- 4 -

regard for the insured's interest.

The basis of Jones' action was that Continental knew the accident was not Jones' fault; knew the damages were in excess of the policy limits; knew the Jones were peculiarly susceptible to emotional distress because of their daughter's death; did not conduct a proper investigation of the claim before refusing Jones' offer; and, in sum, employed a course of dealing designed to hold on to its money as long as possible. [RE (d)(5); R1-11].

Continental moved to dismiss Jones' complaint on the ground that the suit violated § 624.155, Fla. Stat. (1983). Continental argued the common law of Florida did not recognize a bad-faith action involving a claim for first-party benefits such as uninsured motorist coverage. Consequently, if the statute were interpreted as Jones suggested, it would be unconstitutional. [RE (d)(1), (2); R1-5]. The case was removed to federal court [R1-1, 2], and Continental submitted a supplemental memo of law on the issue to the federal court. [RE (d)(2); R1-5]. Jones argued the statute did provide him with a cause of action. [RE (d)(3); R1-6]. Judge Aronovitz agreed and denied Continental's Motion To Dismiss, Jones v. Continental Ins., 670 F.Supp. 937 (S.D. Fla. 1987) [RE (d)(5); R1-11], and the case proceeded.<sup>1</sup>

The case went to trial, and the jury returned its verdict. The jury returned a special verdict against Continental, finding that Continental did not attempt in good faith to settle Jones' claim. However, the jury found Jones had suffered zero damages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This was a nonfinal order and hence was not appealable at that time.

[RE (e)]. Jones filed a motion for JNOV. [R13-121]. Judge Aronovitz: (1) granted Jones' motion for JNOV on the ground the jury could not have returned a verdict for zero damages; (2) set aside the jury's zero damage verdict; (3) entered a judgment for \$366,750 (roughly arrived at by deducting the policy limits of \$600,000 and monies received in settlement of claims against third-party tortfeasors from the \$1,000,000 amount awarded by the arbitrators), plus prejudgment interest [R10-663]; (4) awarded costs to Jones; and (5) denied Jones' motion for new trial on damages on the ground of mootness.

Continental appealed to the Eleventh Circuit, contesting the correctness of two of Judge Aronovitz's orders. [R4-100]. The first order, a nonfinal order, is his "Memorandum Opinion and Order on Defendant's Motion To Dismiss." Jones v. Continental Ins., 670 F.Supp. 937 (S.D. Fla. 1987) [RE (d)(5); R1-11]. The second order is a final order and is his "Order Granting Motion for and Entering Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Denying Motion for New Trial." Jones v. Continental Ins., 716 F.Supp. 1456 (S.D. Fla. 1989) [RE (e); R4-99]. The Eleventh Circuit certified the question to the Supreme Court of Florida. Continental Ins. Co. v. Jones, 920 F.2d 847 (11th Cir. 1991).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida has traditionally had a cause of action against an insurer when an insurer acts in bad faith in settling the claim of its insured. This cause of action is a so-called "third-party action." In a third-party claim, the insured is claiming that the insurer failed to settle with a third party. This failure to

- 6 -

settle exposes the insured to a judgment in excess of the policy limits. So, in a third-party claim, the measure of damages is the difference between the amount of coverage and the amount of damages awarded.

In 1982, the Florida Legislature passed a bad-faith statute. The question all the courts in Florida have been struggling to answer is this: How does the statute apply to first-party actions? In a first-party action, the insured is claiming that the insurer failed to settle the insured's claim (in this case, for uninsured motorist benefits). However, unlike a third-party action, this failure to settle does not expose the insured to a judgment in excess of the policy limits. It exposes the insured to the extra costs of going to trial and of prejudgment interest.

This case involves a first-party claim for uninsured motorist benefits. When Jones' daughter died at the hands of an uninsured motorist, Jones demanded his policy limits; Continental refused to pay the entire policy limits, and the claim was arbitrated. Jones then instituted a claim of bad faith against Continental for its refusal to settle for the policy limits. The jury awarded Jones no damages, but the trial court ordered Jones could recover for the amount the arbitrator's award exceeded the policy limits, plus prejudgment interest. However, Jones' recovery under Judge Aronovitz' interpretation of § 624.155, Fla. Stat. (1983) is improper. It is improper for three reasons.

First, in this case, as in all first-party uninsured motorist cases, there is no relationship between the amount of damages suffered by the plaintiff and the amount of the excess judgment.

- 7 -

In other words, the insurer's bad-faith actions did not cause in insured's injury, it was the uninsured motorist who caused the physical injury. Awarding the plaintiff the amount of the excess judgment makes no sense. Second, the issue was submitted to the jury, and the jury found there were no damages. There was sufficient evidence to support the jury's finding; therefore, Judge Aronovitz erred in granting the Jones' motion for JNOV. Third, if the statute is deemed to provide a cause of action in this firstparty UM action, the statute is unconstitutional. It is unconstitutional because the statute is vague and overbroad and violates the insurer's right to equal protection. It fails to tell an insurer how to avoid acting in bad faith in a UM situation where the insurer has no fiduciary duty towards the insured.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE COURT USED AN INCORRECT MEASURE OF DAMAGES; JONES CAN RECOVER ONLY THOSE DAMAGES PROXIMATELY CAUSED BY CONTINENTAL'S ACTIONS

In Florida, there has long been a common law action against an insurance company when it does not attempt in good faith to settle claims it should have. That is, there is a cause of action for third-party bad-faith claims. In a third-party claim, the insured is claiming that the insurer failed to settle with a third party. This failure to settle exposes the insured to a judgment in excess of the policy limits. Consequently, the measure of damages in a third-party bad-faith case is the difference between the amount of coverage and the amount of damages awarded. In contrast, under the common law, there has never been a firstparty action. <u>Baxter v. Royal Indem. Co.</u>, 285 So.2d 652 (Fla.

- 8 -

1st DCA 1973), cert. dis. 317 So.2d 728 (Fla. 1975); Midwest Mut. Ins. Co. v. Brasecker, 311 So.2d 817 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975).

Florida's bad-faith cause of action was codified by the Legislature in 1982. The codification of the bad-faith cause of action reads as follows:

(1) Any person may bring a civil action against an insurer when such person is damaged:

(b) By the commission of any of the following acts by the insurer:

1. Not attempting in good faith to settle claims when, under all the circumstances, it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly towards its insured and with due regard for his interests.

(3) Upon adverse adjudication at trial or upon appeal, the insurer shall be liable for damages, together with court costs and reasonable attorney's fees incurred by the plaintiff.

§ 624.155, Fla. Stat. (1983).

Jones argues the measure of damages is automatically the same as a third-party action, that is, the amount of the excess verdict. The trial court accepted this argument too. "Order Granting Motion for and Entering Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Denying Motion for New Trial," Jones v. Continental Ins., 716 F.Supp. 1456 (S.D. Fla. 1989) [RE (e); R4-99].

However, the trial court's order overlooks something important. In a first-party action, the insured is claiming that the insurer failed to settle the insured's claim, in this case, for uninsured motorist benefits. This failure to settle does not expose the insured to a judgment in excess of the policy limits. Instead, it exposes the insured to expenses which have nothing to do with the injuries incurred. The expenses normally include the

- 9 -

extra costs of going to trial and of prejudgment interest.

However, Jones contended the damage provision of § 624.155(3), Fla. Stat. (1983), required construction and therefore asked Judge Aronovitz to construe this statute by reference to its legislative history. Jones argued the history indicates that the available damages would include the amount an arbitration award exceeds policy limits. Jones is incorrect for three reasons: First, the remedy portion of the statute is clear, unambiguous, and conveys a definite meaning. Thus, there is no need for statutory interpretation and construction. Second, the legislative history is itself ambiguous and cannot be substituted for the express terms of the statute. Third, the construction placed on the statute by Jones is unconstitutional (violative of due process and equal protection) and is an impermissible double penalty.

### A. Because the Statute Is Not Ambiguous, We Should Not Consult Legislative History

In Florida, the cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is that the statutory language must be accorded its plain meaning. <u>Roush v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 15 (Fla. 1982); <u>Carson v. Miller</u>, 470 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1979); <u>see Waltman v. United States</u>, 618 F.Supp. 718 (M.D. Fla. 1985). An allied cardinal rule is that the intent of the Legislature is to be obtained from the statute itself and legislative history will only be used to resolve ambiguity. "Where the legislative intent as evidenced by a statute is plain and unambiguous, then there is no necessity for any construction or interpretation of the statute, and the courts need only give effect to the plain meaning of its terms." <u>State v. Egan</u>, 287 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973), Alligood v. Florida Real Estate Comm'n, 156

- 10 -

So.2d 705 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963).

This is true "[e]ven where a court is convinced that the Legislature really meant and intended something not expressed in the phraseology of the act. [I]t will not deem itself authorized to depart from the plain meaning of the language which is free from ambiguity." <u>Van Pelt v. Hilliard</u>, 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693, 694 (1918); <u>Department of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel</u> <u>Club, Inc.</u>, 434 So.2d 879, 882 (Fla. 1983); <u>Small v. Sun Oil Co.</u>, 222 So.2d 196, 201 (Fla. 1969); <u>State ex rel. Florida Jai-Alai,</u> <u>Inc. v. State Racing Comm'n</u>, 112 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1959); <u>Florida State Racing Comm'n v. McLaughlin</u>, 102 So.2d 574 (Fla. 1958); <u>Egan</u>, 287 at 4. The reason for the plain-meaning rule is that the Legislature is presumed to know the meaning of the words contained in the statute and to have expressed its intent by the words used in the statute. <u>S.R.G. Corp. v. Department of Revenue</u>, 365 So.2d 687, 689 (Fla. 1978).

The term "damages" used in Florida Statute § 624.155(3), Fla. Stat. (1983), is not ambiguous and its definition evinces the legislative intent. Damage is defined by Webster's New Universal Dictionary of the English Language, Unabridged (1976), as follows: (1) Any hurt, injury or harm to ones person or estate causing any loss of property, etc. (2) the loss so caused (3) in law, money claimed or ordered paid as recompense for injury or loss that is the fault of someone else (4) cost or expense. The word, damage, is synonymous with detriment, harm, injury or loss.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2</sup> Many Florida Statutes use the term damages or the phrase actual damages to describe the penalties for violation of statutes where civil causes of actions are permitted by the

Compensatory damages are designed to make the INJURED PARTY WHOLE to the extent it is possible to measure injury in terms of Mercury Motors Express, Inc. v. Smith, 393 So.2d 545 money. (Fla. 1981). Damages are intended to compensate the victim for INJURY WHICH IS SUSTAINED AS A CONSEQUENCE OF A DEFENDANT'S ACT. Fisher v. City of Miami, 172 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1965) ("primary basis for an award of damages is compensation"); Hanna v. Martin, 49 So.2d 585 (Fla. 1950). An award of damages is to place the injured party in the position in which he would have been had no wrongful act occurred. Ashland Oil Co., Inc. v. Pickard, 269 So.2d 714 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971), cert. denied, 284 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1973). Damages are compensation for the direct, natural, logical and necessary consequences of injury. Augustine v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 91 So.2d 320 (Fla. 1956); Jacksonville Elec. Co. v. Batchis, 54 Fla. 192, 44 So. 933 (1907); Florida Power Corp. v. Zenith Indus., Co., 377 So.2d 203 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979).

That the Legislature chose to use the term "damages" in the statute is itself indicative of its intent to impose a remedy of consequential damages in the event an insurer violates its terms. Recovery of consequential damages for failure to pay a claim by an

statute. See § 376.205, Fla. Stat. (all damages); § 394.459(13), Fla. Stat. (liable for damages as determined by law); § 400.023, Fla. Stat. (action to recover actual and punitive damages); § 542.22, Fla. Stat. (threefold the damages sustained); § 559.77, Fla. Stat. (actual damages); § 634.3284, Fla. Stat. (actual damages); § 58.65(12)(c), Fla. Stat. (actual damages); § 713.76(2), Fla. Stat. (damages); § 772.104, Fla. Stat. (actual damages); § 768.125, Fla. Stat. (liable for injury or damage); § 812.035(7), Fla. Stat. (actual damages); § 817.706, Fla. Stat. (actual damages). None of these statutes have required interpretation by the courts as to the meaning of damages. The term damages is clearly not ambiguous and construction is not required.

insurer is not a novel proposition and has been allowed in a variety of contexts either imposed by statute or by case law. See generally the cases collected in the annotation on Insurer's Liability for Consequential or Punitive Damages for Wrongful Delay or Refusal to Make Payments Due Under Contracts, 47 ALR 3d 314. When words used in a statute, considered in their ordinary and grammatical sense, clearly express the legislative intent, other rules of construction and interpretation are unnecessary and unwarranted. <u>Rinker Materials v. City of North Miami</u>, 286 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1973).

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