IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,219

SID J. WHITE

APR 1991

CLERK, SUPAEME COURT

By

Chief Deput Clerk

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

THOMAS F. JONES, as Personal Representative of the Estate of KAREN SUE JONES, Deceased, THOMAS F. JONES, Individually and MARY ANN JONES, Individually,

Appellees.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ROLAND GOMEZ, ESQ.
Suite 400
8100 Oak Lane
Miami, Lakes, Florida 33016
-andROBERT J. DICKMAN, P.A.
4500 LeJeune Road
Coral Gables, Florida 33146
-andDANIELS & TALISMAN, P.A.
Suite 2401, New World Tower

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

15 Nova. L. Rev. at 320-321.

This was also the rationale used by the Supreme Court of South Dakota in finding that the excess award was the appropriate measure of damages in a first-party bad faith action. In <u>Helmbolt v. LeMars Mutual Insurance Co.</u>, 404 N.W.2d 55 (S. Dak. 1987), one company insured both the tortfeasor and injured party in an automobile accident. The insurer refused to settle either the liability or UM claim. The injured motorist brought a bad faith action and was awarded the unpaid excess over policy limits. The Supreme Court affirmed this award holding:

In the present case, it is the tort victims who are suing their own insurance company. The same justification for assessing damages equal to the excess liability does not exist [as in a third party claim] because the

insured plaintiffs are not subject to a judgment in that amount. However, the court also stated in Crabb, that if an insurance company were not required to pay the excess liability amount its "responsiveness to its well-established duty to consideration to an ... insured's interests would tend to become meaningless." Id. at 638 (quoting Lange, supra). This concept applies with equal force to an insurer's duty to the purchaser of underinsurance. In short, we find the verdict of \$55,500 an appropriate amount to be awarded in light of all of the facts and circumstances present.

Id. See also Wahl, supra. 11

Thus, the interpretation of §624.155 to provide for recovery of the excess award in a UM bad faith claim is supported by the act itself, its history, its purpose and Florida case law. It is respectfully submitted that this interpretation is the proper one and should be adopted by this Court.

II. <u>It Is Not Proper to Submit Questions of Federal Civil</u> <u>Procedure to This Court.</u>

Continental raises as a second point the argument that, notwithstanding the way this Court answers the certified question, the verdict assessing 0 damages to the Jones' should be upheld because: 1) it is supported by the evidence, 2) the Jones' waived the issue of their entitlement to the excess award as a matter of

Which is denied, this does not render the statute unconstitutional. The statute assessing attorney's fees against insurers has been held to be both penal in character and constitutional. Empire State Insurance Co. v. Chafetz, 302 F.2d 828 (5th Cir. 1962). Further, there would be no double penalty imposed — punitive damages can only be assessed under this statute if the insurer performs the acts giving rise to the violation with such frequency as to indicate they constitute a general business practice. §624.155(4). Thus, punitive damages are assessed as punishment for the general business practice — not the one violation.

law, 3) a judgment n.o.v. was not warranted, and 4) a new trial on damages is not warranted. It is respectfully submitted that these arguments are not properly before this Court.

Continental has obviously forgotten that this case is before this Court pursuant to Rule 9.150(a), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. This rule provides that the "United States Court of Appeal may certify a question of law to the Supreme Court of Florida whenever the answer is determinative of the cause and there is no controlling precedent of the Supreme Court of Florida." The only question that the Eleventh Circuit chose to certify is "what is the appropriate measure of damages in a first party action for bad faith failure to settle an uninsured motorist insurance claim under §624.155(1)(b)(1)?" This question certainly fits the requirements of the rule.

The additional questions Continental raises, on the other hand, are not even questions of law, much less questions of state law. Rather, questions of preservation of error, sufficiency of the evidence, and whether to grant a new trial are all questions of federal law. Boeing Co. v. Shipman, 411 F.2d 365 (5th Cir. 1969) (en banc); ll Wright & Miller §2802 (1973); Starr v. J. Hacker Co., Inc., 688 F.2d 78 (8th Cir. 1982). Even Continental admits this, since it cites federal law in support of its arguments. Certainly,

¹² If Continental desired to have this case tried and decided by a Florida state court in accordance with Florida rules of procedure, it should not have removed it to federal court in the first instance. Having chosen to be in a federal forum, Continental should be satisfied with that system's interpretation of its own rules.

no federal court would certify such questions to this Court for resolution -- nor would this Court accept such a certification under Rule 9.150(a). It is respectfully submitted that under the principles of comity this Court should refrain from answering such questions now. 13

III. Section 624.155 is Constitutional.

Continental now concedes that the case law recognizes that §624.155 does indeed create a first-party bad faith cause of action. However, it maintains that such a construction of the

¹³ The Jones' do however feel compelled to correct several misstatements: 1) This issue clearly was not waived. At the close of all the evidence and immediately before the charge conference, the Jones' moved for a directed verdict as to the excess award, i.e., that if the jury found Continental had acted in bad faith the Jones' were entitled to the excess as a matter of law. court denied this motion but ruled that the issue should be submitted to the jury. It was in conformance with this ruling that the instructions were submitted and the charge conference was conducted. Additionally, Continental has waived its right to rely on this issue by its failure to raise it in its initial brief before the Eleventh Circuit; 2) The award of zero damages is not supported by the evidence. The jury found that Continental acted in bad faith in refusing to settle this matter. No attack has been (or could properly be) made on this finding. It is well supported by the evidence. This means that, at the very least, the Jones' should have received payment of the \$600,000 policy limits sooner than they did. Interest on this amount accrues at the rate of \$200 per day. Further, the evidence was uncontradicted that there was an excess award in the amount of \$366,750. As long as the court holds that this is a proper element of recovery, there is no justification for the jury not awarding this amount. Under these circumstances, the finding that the Jones suffered \$0 in damages is grossly inadequate and contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. The trial court so found; it only denied the motion as the basis that it had already granted notwithstanding the verdict. (R. 4-99-7-8).

¹⁴ In fact, every court which has addressed this statute has either explicitly or implicitly found that this is its purpose and effect. Adams v. Fidelity Casualty Co., No. 88-0629-Civ-Spellman (S.D. Feb. 12, 1990); United Guaranty Residential Insurance Co. of (continued...)

statute renders it unconstitutional in that it violates the insurer's rights to due process and equal protection and impairs its contractual right to arbitrate. As will be shown below, none of these arguments has any merit.

A. No due process violation.

As Continental admits, in determining whether a statute is void for vagueness, a court will look to see if it employs special or technical words or phrases well enough known to enable those expected to use them to correctly apply them or if it uses words with a settled common law meaning. If a statute does this, that is sufficient. Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976). 15

^{14(...}continued) Iowa v. Alliance Mortgage Co., 644 F.Supp. 339 (M.D. Fla. 1986); Rowland v. Safeco Insurance Co. of America, 634 F. Supp. 613 (M.D. Fla. 1986); Kujawa v. Manhattan National Life Insurance Co., 541 So.2d 1168 (Fla. 1989) (holding "the legislature in creating the bad faith cause of action did not evince an intent to abolish the attorney-client privilege and workproduct immunity"); Sarko v. Fireman's Ins. Co., 16 F.L.W. 476 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 13, 1991); Hollar v. International Bankers, 15 F.L.W. D2888 (Fla. 3d DCA Nov. 27, 1990); Allstate v. Melendez, 550 So.2d 156 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Cardenas v. Miami Dade Yellow Cab, 538 So.2d 491 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), review discharged, 549 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1989); Opperman v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co., 515 So.2d 263 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), review denied, 523 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1988); Industrial Fire & Casualty Insurance Co. v. Romer, 432 So.2d 66 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), review denied, 441 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1983) (holding that there is no common law cause of action for first party bad faith and then stating in dicta that such a cause of action was created by §624.155(1)(b)(1), Florida Statute.

¹⁵ This seems to be a specific application of the general rules that 1) economic legislation is subject to a less strict vagueness test because of its more narrow subject matter and because businesses which face economic demands can be expected to consult relevant legislation in advance of action; 2) legislative acts which adjust the burdens and benefits of economic life come to a (continued...)

Here, as pointed out by the federal district court, the language of §624.155(b)(l) tracks the language of Florida's Standard Jury Instruction on bad faith and failure to settle. (R.1-11-14, R.E. D(5), p. 14). This instruction states:

The issue for your determination is whether (defendant) acted in bad faith in failing to settle the claim of (name) against (insured). An insurance company acts in bad faith in failing to settle a claim against its [policy holder] [insured] within its policy limits when, under all of the circumstances, it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly toward its [policyholder] [insured] and with due regard for his interests.

Fla. S.J.I. (Civ) MI 3.1. It, like all of Florida's standard jury instructions, has been approved by this Court as a correct statement of Florida law. Thus, as the district court recognized, there are cases from which these principles were gleaned. (R. 1-11-15; R.E. D(5) p. 15).

In fact, the district court went on to cite cases which could be used to define an insurer's duties in the first-party context:

...[I]t has been held that an insurer has a duty to use the same degree of care and diligence as a person of ordinary care and prudence should exercise in the management of his own business. Auto Mutual Indemnity Co. v. Shaw, 134 Fla. 815, 184 So. 852 (1938). Further, the duty of good faith involves diligence and care in the investigation and

^{15(...}continued)
court with a presumption of constitutionality; and, 3) if a statute
can be made constitutionally definite by reasonable construction,
the court is under a duty to give it such a construction. Hoffman
Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. 489,102 S.Ct. 1186
71 L.Ed. 2d 362 (1982); Usery v. Turner Elkhorn Mining Co., 428
U.S. 1 (1976); United States v. Thomas, 567 F.2d 299 (5th Cir.
1978).

evaluation of the claim against the insured. American Fidelity and Casualty Co. Greyhound Corp., 258 F.2d 709 (5th Cir. 1958); <u>DeLaune v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co.</u>, 314 So.2d 601 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975). See also Chaachou v. American Central Insurance Co., 241 F.2d 889 (5th Cir. 1957) (interpreting Florida law and holding that an insurance contract creates a relationship requiring the utmost of good faith and fair dealing between the parties). The principles drawn from these cases, each of were part and parcel of Florida insurance law at the time of Florida Statutes Section 624.155(1)(b)(1)'s enactment, could have equal application in the first party context.

(R. 1-11-16-17, R.E. D(5), pp. 16-17). The court even found case law dealing with the phrase "with due regard for the interest of the insured," <u>Boston Old Colony Insurance Co. v. Guetierrez</u>, 386 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980), and showed how this could be applied in the first-party bad faith context:

The question of "due regard for the interests of the insured," then, has been recognized by the Florida Supreme Court as a factual issue, dependent upon the facts of the particular case. "Due" regard implies a varying level or degree of regard as appropriate under the totality of the facts presented. The relationship between the insurer and insured, whether fiducial or adversarial, would be one factor to be considered by the trier of fact in determining whether the insurance company had breached a duty of good faith.

(R. 1-11-17, 18; R.E. D(5), pp. 16-17). Based on the above established ability to construe §624.155 using case law in existence at the time the statute was enacted, the district court found that the statute was not vague. (R. 7-11-18, R.E. D(5), p. 18).

It also found that for an insurer to act with "due regard" for the interest of its insureds does not "require the insurance company to completely forego or ignore its legitimate rights under the insurance policy in favor of the insured's rights." The court concluded, therefore, that the statute is not overbroad.

Certainly, this analysis and these holdings are all in accord with the constitutional principles governing vagueness and overbreadth. Section 624.155 is clearly constitutional.

B. No equal protection violation.

Continental next argues that §624.155 violates its right to equal protection. This argument was not raised in the trial court or before the Eleventh Circuit. Therefore, it has been waived. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).

Even more importantly, this point is not supportable. Continental admits that the appropriate level of judicial scrutiny to be applied <u>sub judice</u> is the "rational basis" standard. Under this standard of review a court should inquire only whether it is conceivable that the regulatory classification bears some rational relationship to a legitimate state purpose. <u>Florida High School Activities Ass'n, Inc. v. Thomas</u>, 434 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1983). Further, the one challenging the constitutionality of the statute bears the burden of proof. Here, it is quite clear that the distinction between insurer and insured in §624.155 bears a rational relationship to a legitimate state purpose.

Because of its quasi-public nature and statewide effects, insurance is an appropriate subject for legislative control. As a

result, the legislature has broad discretion in making distinctions in insurance law. Dealers Insurance Co., Inc. v. Jon Hall Chevrolet Co., Inc., 547 So.2d 325 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). This is in accord with the general rule, recognized by this Court, that the legislature possesses wide latitude in devising classifications which regulate commercial transactions. Reserve Insurance Co. v. Gulf Florida Terminal Co., 386 So.2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1980). In fact, this latitude is broad enough to allow classifications based upon the financial resources of the parties. Id.

Here, the purpose of the entire statute is to curb abuses inflicted by insurers on their insureds -- whether those abuses are in connection with settlement practices, premium charges, or the insurance coverage provided. Certainly, considering the enormous financial resources insurance companies have and the enormous disparity in bargaining power between such companies and their insureds, it was reasonable for the legislature to impose a duty of good faith upon insurers without imposing a concomitant duty upon insureds. In fact, it can fairly be said that insurers and insureds are not similarly situated. Accordingly, there is no equal protection violation.

C. No unconstitutional impairment of the right to arbitrate.

Continental's final argument on this point is that the statute as construed impairs its contractual right to arbitration. This argument also has no merit because the statute became effective in 1982 -- before the subject insurance policy was issued to the Jones in 1983. The law of Florida in force at the time an insurance

policy is issued is considered a basic ingredient of the contract and forms a part of the contract as though it were expressly referred to in its terms. Empire State Ins. Co. v. Chafetz, 302 F.2d 828 (5th Cir. 1962); Williams v. New England Mutual Life Ins. Co., 419 So.2d 766 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Calio v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc. of the United States, 169 So.2d 502 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964). Thus, this insurance contract does not conflict with \$624.155, but instead incorporates its provisions.

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